IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES,

| Appellant, | | |
|------------------|---|------------------------------|
| VS. | | Case No: SC04-1492 |
| | | LT Case No: 16 1986 CF 11599 |
| JOHN D. FREEMAN, | | |
| Appellee. | | |
| | / | |

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Richard T. Donelan, Jr.
William J. Thurber IV
Attorneys for Appellant
Department of Financial Services
Division of Legal Services
200 East Gaines Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-4247
(850)410-9461
Fax (850) 410-9464

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following signals and abbreviations wil be employed in this Initial Brief:

Appellant State of Florida Department of Financial Services will be referred to as "the Department."

Appellee John D. Freeman will be referred to as "defendant Freeman." Mr. Freeman's court appointed registry counsel, Frank J. Tassone, Esq., will be referred to as "Mr. Tassone."

References to the Record On Appeal in this matter will be signaled by "R-" in parentheses followed by the appropriate page number cited. References to the Appendix attached to the Initial Brief will be signaled by "A-" in parentheses followed by the appropriate page number cited.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to Florida statutes are to Florida Statutes (2004).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case arises out of the court-appointed representation of capital defendant John D. Freeman by Frank J. Tassone, Jr., Esq. between November 12, 2003 (A-13), and April 26, 2004, the date of denial of the capital defendant's petition for writ of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court. Freeman v. Florida, 124 S. Ct. 2069 (2004). By an order dated July 8, 2003, Mr. Tassone was appointed by the Fourth Judicial Circuit from the registry maintained by the Commission on Capital Cases pursuant to Section 27.710, Florida Statutes, of qualified criminal lawyers in private practice who are willing to accept appointment to represent defendants in postconviction capital cases. (R-1).

At the time of Mr. Tassone's appointment, Freeman's appeal of the trial court's denial of his motion for postconviction relief was pending before this Court, the Initial Brief, Answer Brief, and Reply Brief had already been filed in this Court and oral argument of counsel had already occurred.¹ On July 11, 2003, the lower court's order denying Freeman's motion for postconviction relief was affirmed by this Court. *See* Freeman v. State, 858 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 2003). On July 21, 2003, Mr. Tassone filed a motion for extension of time to file a petition for rehearing.²

¹ The Department respectfully requests that this Court take judicial notice of the Clerk's Docket contained on the Florida Supreme Court website.

² Id.

Subsequently, the motion for an extension of time was granted by this Court and Mr. Tassone filed a motion for rehearing on October 31, 2003.³ In the forty-two page motion for rehearing styled "Defendant's Motion for Rehearing" approximately twenty-two pages contained argument based on the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Ring v. Arizona.⁴ On November 25, 2004, the motion for rehearing was summarily denied by this Court. Freeman v. State, 2003 Fla. LEXIS 2078.

On April 20, 2004, Mr. Tassone filed in the trial court a notice of hearing along with a motion for payment of attorney fees and miscellaneous expenses styled "Motion for Order of Payment of Attorney Fees" in the amount of \$27,440.74 for work performed and expenses incurred on and after November 12, 2003. (R-1-2). The motion for attorney fees and miscellaneous expenses alleged in toto:

- 1. The undersigned counsel was appointed to represent the Defendant on July 1, 2003.
- 2. The undersigned counsel filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court in a timely fashion.
- 3. Subsequent to filing the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, the undersigned counsel submitted a statement for payment of fees and costs to the Department of Financial Services in Tallahassee, Florida, in the amount of \$20,069.82.

³ Id.

⁴ The Department respectfully requests that this Court take judicial notice of the motion styled "Defendant's Motion for Rehearing" filed in this Court on October 31, 2003 in Case No. 01-2007.

- 4. On March 16, 2004, the Department of Financial Services advised the undersigned counsel that they would pay all of the miscellaneous expenses and only pay the sum of \$2,500 as and for attorney's fees.
- 5. To date, the undersigned has not received payment for miscellaneous expenses or \$2,500 in attorney fees for filing of Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari.
- 6. There is due and owing this Firm the sum of \$20,069.82 for attorney's fees and miscellaneous expenses for filing the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.
- 7. The undersigned counsel filed Petitioner's Reply to Brief in Opposition to the United States Supreme Court in a timely fashion.
- 8. Subsequent to filing Petitioner's Reply Brief in Opposition, the undersigned counsel submitted a statement for payment of fees and costs to the Department of Financial Services in Tallahassee, Florida in the amount of \$7,870.92.
- 9. There is due and owing this firm the sum of \$27,440.74 for attorney's fees and miscellaneous expenses for filing of the Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari and Petitioner's Reply Brief in Opposition to the United States Supreme Court.
- (R-1-2). In its prayer for relief, the motion stated:

WHEREFORE, the undersigned counsel respectfully requests this Honorable effect paymentototter an Soder, firsthoirizing the Departmens 27, Figuridial Streibelance of attorney's fees and miscellaneous expenses due in this case.

(R-2).

On May 5, 2004, a brief telephonic hearing was held regarding the motion for attorney fees and miscellaneous expenses. (A-3-12). Counsel for the Department attended by telephone while Mr. Tassone and the trial court were in Jacksonville. (A-4). During the hearing, neither sworn testimony nor documents were entered

into evidence; only argument of counsel was presented to the trial court. (A-3-12).

3

At the hearing, the court stated: "... apparently Mr. Tassone has a motion. You want to go over that?" (A-6). Mr. Tassone responded and represented to the court:

I spoke to Mr. Thurber briefly about this. I filed a motion, and attached the billing statement to the motion which reflects that in preparation of the, the initial brief for the petition for writ of certiorari to the United States` Supreme Court, and the reply thereto, we spent a total of \$22,032 in attorney's fees, and had costs in the amount of \$5,908.74, the total amount being \$27,940.74...

(A-6-7).

The "billing statement" referenced by Mr. Tassone consists of two separate billing statements for work performed and expenses incurred in connection with Mr. Freeman's petition for writ of certiorari filed in the United States Supreme Court. (A-13,24). The first billing consists of \$16,496.00 in attorney fees and an additional \$3,573.82 in miscellaneous expenses totaling \$20,069.82. The first three attorney entries on the billing for \$950, totaling 9.5 hours appear to relate to a motion filed in the Florida Supreme Court relating to the motion for rehearing. The remaining 155.46 in attorney hours billed totaling \$15,546 in attorney fees appear to all relate to the petition for writ of certiorari. Miscellaneous expenses are comprised of \$1,797.75 for 71.91 hours of paralegal/research assistant time billed at \$25 per hour; \$1,338.07 for professional copying services related to the copying and filing of the petition for writ of certiorari; \$138.00 for in house copying; and \$300 for the United States Supreme Court docket fee. (A-13-24).

The second billing statement for attorney fees and miscellaneous fees appears to relate to the reply brief filed in the United States Supreme Court. (A-24-28). The second bill consists of 55.36 hours of attorney time totaling \$5,536. (A-24-27). Miscellaneous expenses total \$2,334.92 and comprise \$137.50 for 5.5 hours of paralegal/research assistant time billed at \$25 per hour; \$1,829.42 for professional copying services related to the copying and filing of the reply brief; \$60.00 for in house copying; \$288.00 for Lexis/Nexis Research; and \$20.00 for long distance telephone charges. (A-25,27).

At the hearing, Mr. Tassone continued by explaining the miscellaneous expenses incurred in Mr. Freeman's case to the trial court:

The bulk of the costs, I think it was \$1,800, or somewhere between \$1,500 or \$1,800 to get - you have to send them forty copies, and you have to have them bound in a certain way. The statute, the provision of the statute with regard to preparation of the petition for the writ of certiorari sets a cap of \$2,500.

(A-7). In response, counsel for the Department reiterated to the trial court that the statutory cap under Section 27.711(4)(g), Florida Statutes for attorney time associated with the petition for writ of certiorari is limited to \$2,500. (A-7). Counsel for the Department then attempted to clarify to the trial court that it appeared that nine and one half hours of the attorney hours billed on the first attorney billing appeared to be work performed prior to the capital defendant's

motion for postconviction relief became final in the Florida Supreme Court and appeared to be payable under Section 27.711(4)(f), Florida Statutes. (A-8).

In response to the Court's inquiry "Anything else?" (A-8). Counsel for the Department then raised the issues of reasonableness and extraordinary circumstances stating:

Well, it actually goes to both reasonableness and that I haven't heard that there's been anything extraordinary in this case. The Florida Legislature set a cap at 25 hours in this for attorney's fees, for a maximum of \$2,500. In this case we have been billed for over 200 hours on the work done, being performed for the petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. So, as a result, we, my agency feels that that is unreasonable.

(A-8). Mr. Tassone responded by arguing:

I believe the Legislature in enacting this statue contemplated that the attorney who handled the petition of writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court would have handled the appeal to the Florida Supreme Court in response thereto, all of which would have allowed him or her to read the transcripts, go through the boxes. We got appointed after the denial of the last item in the Florida Supreme Court and consequently had to read the 40 boxes of material in order to prepare the petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court. That's exactly why it took those many hours.

(A-8-9). Counsel for the Department countered:

[W]hen you review the billing it doesn't indicate that they were actually reviewing the boxes, the forty boxes...Instead it appears on the face of the billing that instead research is being done on case law and those types of things.

(A-10). The trial court then granted Mr. Tassone's motion in its entirety. The trial court stated:

Mr. Tassone enjoys an excellent reputation, and I'm sure if he says he had to review all of that in order to be competent, then I'm confident that that's what he did, and I don't think we could ask him to do any less, particularly in a case as important as this. So, Mr. Thurber, I understand the statute and things like that, but I also understand the attorney's responsibility, and I'm confident that Mr. Tassone spent the time that he said, therefore I'm going to grant his motion.

(A-10). Counsel for the Department then asked the trial court:

"Your honor, may I move for clarification? I don't know where exactly we should put this funding under the statute?"

(A-10). The trial court responded:

Well, sir, it doesn't matter to me where you put it, quite frankly. I'm not--you can do anything you want with it. You can appeal it, but what I'm saying is--Mr. Tassone is a very competent attorney, and in fact, I'm pleased he is willing to take cases like this, and I think he should be compensated in a reasonable amount, and it appears that the hours he's put are reasonable in such an important case. I'm going to sign this order for attorney fees.

(A-10-11).

The hearing concluded and on the same day, the trial court entered an order styled "Order on Motion for Payment of Attorney Fees" which is the subject of this appeal. (R-9). In the opening paragraph the Order stated:

THIS CAUSE came before the Court on "Defendant's Motion for Order of Payment of Attorney's Fees" filed by Frank Tassone, Esquire, pursuant to Florida Statutes, Chapter 27.711(4)(a). A hearing was held before the Court on Wednesday, May 5, 2004. After hearing brief argument of counsel, and over the objection William J. Thurber IV, Esquire, Assistant General Counsel, Department of Banking & Finance and finding that the \$2,500 statutory maximum would not be sufficient for the attorneys fees necessary

for the preparation and filing of the Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari and Petitioner's Reply Brief in Opposition both to the United States Supreme Court, and otherwise fully advised in the premises, the Court Orders as follows:

- (R-4). The Order on review concluded by stating the following:
 - 1. The Defendant's Motion for Order of Payment of Attorney's Fees, is hereby granted.
 - 2. The Department of Financial Services, Chief Financial Officer and/or Contract Manager, Bureau of Accounting and Auditing shall effectuate payment by warrant to Frank J. Tassone, Esquire in the amount of \$22,032.00 for compensation of attorney's fees, and \$5,908.74 for miscellaneous expenses, for a total payment of \$27,940.74, or the balance of attorney's fees and miscellaneous expenses due in this case for compensation of attorney's fees and miscellaneous expenses, pursuant to Fla. Stat. Sec. 27.711 (4)(a)(d), and Fla. Stat. Sec. 27.711 (6).

(R-5).

On June 4, 2004, the Department of Financial Services served a Notice of Appeal regarding the trial court's Order dated May 5, 2004. (R-6-9). This Notice was filed by the Duval County Clerk on June 4, 2004. (R-6).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The final order on appeal departs from the essential requirements of law governing the payment of fees to court-appointed private attorneys in death penalty cases. Section 27.711, Florida Statutes, specifies the applicable compensation for registry participants appointed to represent death sentenced inmates. For purposes of this appeal, the controlling provision is Section 27.711 (4)(g), Florida Statutes, which allows a registry lawyer "\$100 per hour, up to a maximum of \$2,500, after filing a petition for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States." The fee and payment schedule in this section is the exclusive means of compensating a court-appointed registry attorney.

Each of eight statutory caps contained in Section 27.711(4)(a-h) embodies a separate legislative allotment to fund a discrete stage of typical postconviction capital collateral litigation. The registry lawyer's right to payment is expressly conditioned on his or her achievement of a specific milestone in the proceedings. Assuming that a registry attorney were to complete each stage of postconviction proceedings in accordance with Section 27.71 l(4)(a-h), Florida Statutes, he or she would be entitled to receive attorney's fees totaling \$84,000. The Legislature intended this overall figure, and the eight intermediate "milestone caps" that comprise it, as maximum State remuneration for applicable representation by court-appointed registry lawyers. This subsection is an express legislative limitation

on the Department's independent statutory authority to pay attorney's fees to registry counsel.

In situations where maximum fee limits have been set at unreasonably low levels compared to the professional efforts expected on behalf of capital defendants, this Court has declined to apply caps that were confiscatory of the time and talents of counsel. *See* Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1986). Statutory fee caps have not been invalidated by the Court as facially unconstitutional, but rather held unconstitutional *as applied* in specific factual circumstances where inadequate remuneration to counsel would be likely to compromise the Sixth Amendment rights of the capital defendant.

The Makemson rationale was expressly extended to the capital collateral context in Olive v. Maas, 811 So. 2d 644 (Fla. 2002). A registry lawyer is not "forever foreclosed" by the execution of the contract with the Chief Financial Officer required by Section 27.710, Florida Statutes, from securing state payment for hours worked that exceed a statutory cap, provided that the lawyer establish that because of unusual or extraordinary circumstances, under the facts and circumstances of his or her particular case, compensation within the statutory cap would be confiscatory of his or her time, energy and talent.

Notwithstanding clear decisional law relative to the compensation of registry counsel, and without reference to any factual or constitutional justification for the

trial court's action, the Order on review directs Appellant to pay \$22,032.00 in attorney's fees –almost *nine times* the \$2,500 fee allotment fixed by law for such service. The Order contains no specific finding with respect to the reasonableness of either the fees or expenses claimed by Mr. Tassone. Most importantly, the Order offers no legally sufficient explanation of why the lower tribunal ignored the \$2,500 limitation on attorney's fees contained in Section 27.711(4)(g), Florida Statutes. No separate discussion as to constitutionality of the application of the statutory cap is contained in the Order. No finding that unusual or extraordinary circumstances existed is found in the Order.

The lower tribunal made no express determination of whether the expenses for which Mr. Tassone sought reimbursement were reasonable. The order on review is facially erroneous because it failed to contain any finding on the reasonableness of the expenses in question. As to attorney's fees, neither the two page "Motion for Payment of Attorney Fees", the lawyer's billings, nor the Order on appeal satisfy the Olive v. Maas test for exceeding the statutory maximum fee cap. In direct consequence, the Order on review is erroneous as a matter of law. The Order must be reversed because the lower tribunal failed to apply the teaching of this Court in Olive v. Maas in granting an award of attorney's fees in excess of the limit specified by Section 27.711(4)(g), Florida Statutes.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is *de novo*: whether the order of the lower tribunal departed from the essential requirements of law.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DEPARTED FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW BY REFUSING TO APPLY THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM FEE LIMIT PRESCRIBED BY SECTION 27.711(4)(G), FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE ATTORNEY'S FEE APPLICATION OF REGISTRY COUNSEL FRANK J. TASSONE.

The final order on appeal, issued May 5, 2004, and entitled "Order on Motion for Payment of Attorney's Fees" (R-4-5) ("the Order") clearly departs from the essential requirements of Florida law governing the payment of fees to courtappointed private attorneys in death penalty cases. Under Article IV, Section 4(c) of the Florida Constitution, the Chief Financial Officer is the chief fiscal officer for the State of Florida and the statutory head of the Department of Financial Services ("the Department"). *See* §20.121(1), Fla. Stat. (2004). The Chief Financial Officer's unenviable task of assuring faithful compliance with the compensation limitations of Chapter 27, Part IV, Florida Statutes, brings the Department before this Court as appellant to seek reversal of the order on review. See § 27.711(13), Fla. Stat.(2004).

Chapter 27, Part IV, Florida Statutes (2004), is a comprehensive program for public funding of postconviction counsel for death sentenced inmates. As first enacted in 1985, the program was carried out exclusively by state-employed counsel who undertook most, if not all, postconviction capital collateral representation under the statute. See § 27.701, Fla. Stat. (2004). In 1998, by Chapter 98-197, Laws of

Florida, the Legislature first established a registry of private attorneys willing to serve as court-appointed capital collateral conflict counsel under Section 27.703, Florida Statutes ("the registry").

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