IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA STATE OF FLORIDA 500 South Duval Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No.: SC04-1492 L.T. Case No: 16 1986 CF 11599

JOHN D. FREEMAN,

Appellee.

/

ANSWER BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

FRANK J. TASSONE, JR. ESQUIRE Fla. Bar. No.: 165611 RICK A. SICHTA, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar. No.: 0669903 1833 Atlantic Boulevard Jacksonville, FL 32207 Phone: 904-396-3344 Fax: 904-396-0924 Attorneys for Appellee

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

In apparent response to the complicated issues that come with representing a death-sentenced individual, the Florida Supreme Court also acknowledged that "we find that all capital cases by their very nature can be considered extraordinary and unusual and arguably justify an award of attorney's fees in excess of the current statutory fee cap. <u>White</u>, 537 So. 2d 1378 (Fla. 1989).

In light of the aforementioned case law, because of the constant disagreement and refusal by Financial Services in paying registry counsel in excess of what is allotted in the statutory fee schedule for death-sentenced individuals, the undersigned suggests that it should be declared that all

¹³ Contained in this opinion is a statement supporting the undersigned's contention that all death penalty cases are extraordinary and/or unusual. Specifically, the court stated, "we have also enacted complex rules that expressly govern capital postconviciton proceedings and discovery in those proceedings. We have shortened the time for filing petitions in capital cases to one year while allowing two years in other criminal cases. In addition, the critical importance of state postconviction proceedings has been magnified since the enactment of the Anti- Terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996, 28 U.S.C. 2254 (Supp. III 1997), severely restricting a death-sentenced defendant's access to the federal courts. In other words, today state postconviction proceedings are undeniably critical and complex, and by their very nature present the serious and difficult issue contemplated by Graham to require the assistance of counsel." <u>Arbelaez v.</u> <u>Butterworth</u>, 738 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 1999).

death-penalty cases, both at the trial level and at the collateral appellate level, be presumed to be either extraordinary and/or unusual, or both, thereby putting the burden to rebut such an excess of fees on Financial Services. The undersigned states that such a ruling would not only save the State of Florida a temendous amount of money (for there would be less appeals of awards in regards to excess attorney fees, as well as registry counsel's responses thereto), but would contribute to the cause that this Court has long tried to protect, to wit: the death-sentenced individual's right to effective and adequate representation in accordance with the Eighth Amendment. In other words, less disagreement and subsequent appeals and answers thereto means more time being effective and adequate for the person whose rights we are continually trying to protect. ¹⁴

In conclusion, the undersigned alleges that every capital case, whether in trial or postconviction appeal, should be presumed extraordinary and/or unusual. Therefore, because such presumption exists, a trial court award of attorney fees in excess shall not be disturbed absent some conclusive finding

¹⁴ The aforementioned argument has been recognized by all courts in the United States for many years, including the U.S. Supreme Court. For instance, Justice Blackmun, in his dissenting opinion in <u>Mcfarland</u> <u>v. Scott</u>, explained the ongoing problem in regards to counsel and capital representation: "My 24 years of overseeing the imposition of the death penalty from this Court have let me in grave doubt whether this reliance is justified and whether the constitution requirement of competent legal counsel for capital defendant is being fulfilled. It is my hope and belief that this Nation soon will come to realize that capital punishment cannot morally or constitutionally be imposed. Until that time, however, we must have the courage to recognize the failing of our present system of capital presentation and the conviction to do what is necessary to improve it. 512 U.S. 1256 (1994).

to the contrary that such case is not extraordinary and/or unusual. The burden of proof should be borne by Financial Services, and not the person given the ultimate responsibility of trying to save their client from execution.

SUB-ISSUE THREE

ON ITS FACE, THE STATUTORY FEE SCHEDULE SET OUT TO COMPENSATE REGISTRY COUNSEL IN <u>FLA. STAT. 27.711</u>, AND <u>FLA. STAT. 27.7002</u> IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL PER SE, AS IT IS A VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE UNDER THE FLORIDA AND U.S. CONSTITUTIONS, AS WELL AS THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE ONE, SECTION TWO, AND AN IMPREMISSIBLE LEGISLATIVE INTRUSION UPON AN INHERENT JUDICIAL FUNCTION UNDER ARTICLE V, SECTION 2; ARTICLE III, UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

The undersigned alleges the statutory fee schedule caps enumerated <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711</u> and explained in <u>Fla. Stat. 27.7002</u> are not only unconstitutional as applied, but are unconstitutional on their face.

This Court has consistently held that "statutory maximum fees may be unconstitutional when they are inflexibility imposed in cases involving unusual or extraordinary circumstances, because these caps interfere with the trial court's inherent power to ensure adequate representation and the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel." <u>Makemson</u>, 491 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1986). Further, this Court has also held that "we find that all capital cases by their very nature can be considered extraordinary and unusual and arguably justify an award of attorney's fees in excess of the
current statutory fee cap. <u>White</u>, 537 So. 2d 1376. (Fla. 1989). Combining the two aforementioned statements, the logical conclusion is the following statement: statutory maximum fees are unconstitutional when inflexibly imposed in cases involving extraordinary or unusual circumstances, and since all capital cases by their very nature can be considered extraordinary and/or unusual, statutory maximum fees that are inflexibly imposed in capital cases are unconstitutional.

Taking this logical conclusion, and applying it to the statement made by Financial Services in their Initial Brief in this instant case, shows that <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat. 27.711</u>'s statutory fee cap is per se unconstitutional, for attorney fees for representing a death sentenced client are inflexibly imposed.

Specifically, Financial Services, the sole entity controlling dispersing the statutory fees enumerated in <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711</u>, clearly stated how it interpreted and applied said statute. For example, Financial Services believes that, "it is clear that the Legislature intended this overall figure, ¹⁵ and the eight intermediate "milestone caps" that comprise it, as <u>maximum State</u> <u>remuneration¹⁶</u>...and the Department [Financial Services] <u>must view and</u> <u>does construe</u> this subsection as an <u>express legislative limitation</u> on its

¹⁵ Assuming that a registry attorney started collateral representation immediately after the defendant's direct appeal was denied by the Florida Supreme Court, and completed each stage of the collateral postconviction proceedings, the maximum overall figure a registry attorney could receive would be \$84,000.

¹⁶ Financial Services cites to <u>Fla. Stat. 27.7002(5) (2004).</u>

independent statutory authority to pay attorney's fees to court-appointed counsel. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 17). The language in the preceding sentences shows that Financial Services believes and in fact applies the belief that it must inflexibly impose the statutory enumerated fee caps of <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat. 27.711</u>.

Moreover, <u>Fla. Stat. 27.7002</u>, the statute Financial Services bases this belief from, is likewise volatile of the Florida Constitution as well as the previous Florida Supreme Court case law mentioned above. For example, <u>Fla. Stat. 27.7002(2004)(3)(5)(6)(7)</u> collectively holds that: (1) "no provision of this chapter shall be construed to generate any right on behalf of any attorney appointed pursuant to <u>27.710</u>, or seeking appointment pursuant to <u>27.710</u>, to be compensated <u>above the amounts</u> provided in <u>27.711</u> (2) The use of State funds for the compensation of counsel appointed pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat. 27.710</u> above set amounts set forth in <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711</u> is <u>not authorized</u> and, (3) an attorney can be permanently removed from registry attorney list if they seek compensation for services above the amounts provided in statute.

Therefore, Financial Services, and the aforementioned Florida Statutes, conclusively stand for the fact that not only shall "no state funds be used to compensate counsel above the amounts set forth in 27.711 and

32

compensation above said amount are not authorized under the statute, but if undersigned attempts to obtain attorney fees above said cap, registry counsel can be permanently removed from the attorney registry list and possibility removed from the case.

The undersigned states that the language and rules listed in this statute are in direct conflict and directly contradicts (for all the reasons explained in the preceding argument(s) of why the undersigned is entitled to fees in excess of the statutory cap) the Florida Supreme Court rulings of <u>Makemson</u>, <u>White, Sheppard, Remeta, and Arbelaez</u>.¹⁷

In light of the aforementioned statutes and admission by Financial Services, to say anything but <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711</u> being inflexibly imposed by the Legislature and Financial Services would be severely misconstruing the plain meaning of the statute(s). The statute(s) provide for no additional compensation above the statutory fee cap, provides that no authorization shall be given to exceed the cap, and further allow a registry attorney to be possibly terminated from representation or either the attorney registry list should they ask for excess fees. This is hardly what this court had envisioned when it decided <u>Makemson</u> and its progeny. Therefore, as explicitly

¹⁷ The undersigned states that these statutes are in direct conflict with every principle and rule this Honorable Court had enumerated in said prior rulings during the last twenty years, including but not limited too: (1) impermissible legislative intrusion upon an inherent judicial function volatile of <u>Fla. Const. Art. V,</u> <u>Sect. II, Art. III</u> (2) Eighth Amendment violation of the U.S. Constitution (3) Equal Protection violation under <u>Fla. Const. Art. I, Sect. II</u> and, (4) Due Process violation under the Florida and U.S. Constitutions

enumerated in <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711</u>, <u>Fla. Stat. 27.7002</u>, and strictly followed by the payor, Financial Services, the statutory fee schedule cap prescribed to compensate registry attorney in their representation collateral deathsentenced individuals is inflexibly imposed, and thereby unconstitutional per se.

Additionally, the undersigned contends that Financial Services refusal and consistent inability to pay for fees in excess of the statutory cap in <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat. 27.711</u> does not comply with Florida's Constitution in another way. Under Under <u>Fla. Const. Art. I., Sect. II, (2004) (Basic Rights), it states:</u>

"All natural persons, female and male alike, are equal before the law and have inalienable rights, among which are the right to enjoy and defend life and liberty, to pursue happiness, <u>to be rewarded for</u> <u>industry</u>, and to acquire, possess and protect property; except that the ownership, inheritance, disposition and possession of real property by aliens ineligible for citizenship may be regulated or prohibited by law. No person shall be deprived of any right because of race, religion, national origin, or physical disability"

The aforementioned paragraph gives an inalienable right for all natural persons to be rewarded for industry, including the undersigned and like registry attorneys. However, in <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711</u> and <u>Fla. Stat. 27.7002</u>, registry attorneys shall only be compensated within the statutory caps, there is no additional compensation above the cap, and if an attorney requests fees above the statutory cap, his is subject to termination from the registry

attorney list and therefore most representation of death-sentenced individuals. Having said this, <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711</u> provides that when a registry attorney is appointed to a death-sentenced individual's case, "By accepting court appointment to represent a capital defendant, the attorney agrees to continue such representation under the terms and conditions set forth in this section until the capital defendant's sentence is reversed, reduced, or carried out, and the attorney is permitted to withdraw from such representation by a court of competent jurisdiction." <u>Fla. Stat. 27.711(8)</u>.

Therefore, the Legislature and the statute contemplate and thereby presume that a registry counsel will remain, for numerous years, as the counsel for such individuals. However, if and when a circumstance arises during representation that a registry counsel requests excess fees, said statutes which provide for such fees explicitly condone such, and thereby state that no excess fees should be given or authorized. This problem, given the fact that "all death cases by there nature can be considered extraordinary or unusual," will almost certainly occur during some point in a counsel's representation, and therefore has a devastating effect in a myriad of ways.

First, an attorney that undertakes in representation is presumed to represent the individual through the collateral state appellate process, and therefore representing the individual for numerous years. If, for instance, an

35

attorney needs additional fees, like an expert witness to determine whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to find mitigation, and attorney will need fees for both his attorney time spend in finding, deposing, talking to, etc., the expert, as well as paying the expert for his time. If an attorney is over the cap when this situation occurs and is not allowed to obtain additional fees, not only does the attorney pay the expert fees from his own pocket, but the attorney is forced to continually represent the individual for free or try to withdraw from the case with the looming possibility of being subsequently terminated from the registry list, which inevitably will cause havoc with his or her private practice one way or another.

Given the extraordinary amount of time it takes to represent such a death-sentenced individual, an attorney that runs out of statutory money and is not allowed to obtain more is almost forced to work as in indentured servant. The attorney will not receive any more fees, thereby representing the individual for free, and thereby losing thousands of dollars, if not hundreds of thousands of dollars, as well as loss of potential private clients, and time, effort, and energy used to help the privately retained clients that the attorney already has. Moreover, given the worst case scenario, the said Florida Statutes have the possibility of putting a well respected attorney into debt, or worse, out of business (if an attorney represent five death-sentenced individuals, as does the undersigned).

The undersigned points to the following statement made in response to attorneys being under-compensated or not compensated at all, for their services, in support that said statutes are volatile of the Due Process Clause under the Florida and U.S. Constitution, and under Florida's Equal Protection Clause under Art. I., Sect. II:

"To the attorney, his profession is his means of livelihood. His legal knowledge is his capital stock. His professional services are no more at the mercy of the public, as to remuneration, than are the goods of the merchant, or the crops of the farmer, or the wares of the mechanic. The law which requires gratuitous services from particular class, in effect imposes a tax to the extent upon such class – Cleary in violation of the fundamental law, which provides for a uniform and equal rate of assessment and taxation upon all the citizens. <u>Knox County Council v. State</u>, 217 Ind. 493 N.E. 2d 405 (1940).

Furthermore, the death-sentenced individual undoubtedly will suffer with said current statutory scheme. If his or her attorney reaches the statutory cap, and is not allotted additional monies, the following could occur: (1) He or she will be grossly underrepresented, for example, for if a expert is needed to prove that his trial counsel was ineffective in introducing no mitigation, the inability to retain said expert because of lack of funds guarantees the issue will surely not be won in State court, and subsequently not in Federal Court, because such issue will be procedurally barred, and (2) He or she has the possibility of losing the attorney that has represented him or her for many years, and whom has established a trust, bond, and a relationship (on a personal level and on a professional level).

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